



































this action. As pointed out before, these two sets of allegations are virtually the same. Looked at
another way, the allegations that supported the RICO claims in the federal action are the same as
those supporting the state tort claims, the equitable claims and the claims for declaratory relief in
this action. For the reasons stated above, the determination of the federal court that the plaintiffs
RICO claims arose no later than June 1998 collaterally estops WWE from relitigating its claims on
‘that issue in this action.

VI. Statutes of Limitations

The defendants contend that over and above the preclusive effects of the decisions in the
federal action, WWE’s ciaims are barred by Connecticut statutes of limitation when applied to the
Judicially admitted facts alleged in the SAC. General Statutes § 52-577 states that “[n]o action
founded upon a tort shall be brought but within three years from the date of the act or omission
complained of.” The defendants argue that WWE’s claims of fraudulent inducement, the two aiding
and abetting breach of fiduciary duty counts, the two tortious interference counts, and the statutory
theft, conversion and conspiracy (Counts, 3-5, 8-9, 12-13 and 15) are tort claims subject to Section
52-571.

The defendants further argue that the WWE claims for declaratory relief (Counts 1-2), unjust
enrichment (Count 6), the imposition of a constructive trust (Count 7) and to pierce the corporate
veil of THQ/Jakks, Pacific LLC (Count 11) arise from alleged fraudulent activity and thus are
governed by Section 52-577 as well. WWE’s CUTPA claim {Count 14) is govemed by its own
statute of limitations found at General Statutes § 42-110g(f) stating that an action under CUTPA
“may not be brought more than three years afiter the occurrence of a violation of this chapter.”

Finally, the claim under the Connecticut Antitrust Act (Count 10) is governed by a four year statute
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running from the time the cause of action accrued. General Statutes § 35-40.

As a result, the defendants argue that according to the SAC the latest date when any of
WWE’s claims accrued was the June 24, 1998 amendment of the toy licenses (SAC ¥ 166) and
therefore the limitation periods for all the above claims commenced running on that date. Since
WWE’s federal claims were first filed in October 2004, and the state claims in May 2007, the
defendants contend all were filed after the limitation period had expired.

WWE disputes the defendants’ contentions. First, WWE claims that it is improper to rule
on statute of limitation issues when just the allegations of a complaint are before the court. Second,
WWE argues that its equitable claims are not limited by any statute of limitations. Third, and most
importantly, while agreeing that the remaining tort claims and CUTPA claim are governed by
occurrence based three year limitation periods, WWE contends that all of them have been tolled by
either General Statutes § 52-595 (the fraudulent concealment statute) or the continuing course of
conduct doctrine. The court will attempt to resolve these disparate contentions.

As to the plaintiff’s claim that it is premature to rule dispositively based solely on the
allegations of the SAC, the court disagrees with this argument on the basis of several recent
precedents. The Connecticut Supreme Court has affirmed a grant of summary judgment on statute
of limitations grounds when the facts are based on the allegations of a complaint which are
irrefutable. Provencher v. Town of Enfield, 284 Conn. 772, 792 (2007) [factual allegations

contained in pleadings are judicial admissions and hence irrefutable, citing Edmands v. CUNO, Inc.,

277 Conn. 425, 454 (2006)].
The court also disagrees with WWE’s position that the equitable claims it has pleaded have

no statute of limitations. Taken at face value, WWE’s position means that an equitable claim could
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be commenced at any time after the occurrence giving rise to injury took place. That is not the law.
A careful review of the SAC shows that all of WWE’s claims, except those involving the allegedly
illegal licensing to Yukes, arise from the facts alleged in the first 186 paragraphs of the SAC which
set forth the alleged fraudulent conduct of the defendants in obtaining the various licenses from
WWE. The Connecticut Supreme Court has held that a declaratory action “must rest on some cause
of action that would be cognizable in a non-declaratory .;suit” and in determining whether a
declaratory judgment action is barred by a statute of limitations, a court must examine the
“underlying claim or right” and if a statute of limitation would bar claims “for relief other than a
declaratory judgment, then the same limitation period will bar the same claim asserted in a
declaratory judgment action.” Wilson v. Kelley, 224 Conn. 110, 116 (1992). Other courts have
reached similar conclusions. In Gager v. Sanger, 95 Conn. App. 632, (2006) the Appellate Court
held that when a party seeks equitable relief in circumstances when legal relief is also available,
there is concurrent legal and equitable jurisdiction, and the statute of limifations that would bar the
legal claim also bars the equitable claim. Id., 641-642. See also Gennetti v. Jetmore, Superior
Court, judicial district of New London, CV 05 4001918 (October 3, 2007, Purtill, JTR) [citing

D’Agostino v. D’ Addio, 6 Conn. App. 187 (1986)].

The first and second counts of the SAC seek declaratory relief against THQ, THQ/Jakks
Pacific LLC, and Jakks Pacific on the basis that the video game and the toy licenses are void
because of the defendants’ commercial bribery and illegal conduct (First Count) and the conflicts
of interest of Shenker and Bell {Second Count). Basically, these claims are founded on allegedly
tortious acts, primarily fraud, and this court determines that these two counts are governed by the

three year limitations period of Section 52-577. Even if one were to accept an argument the claims
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arise out of a written contract, the six year limitations period of General Statutes §52-576 would
have expired before October 2004.

The claim of unjust enrichment arises out of the various allegations of bribery and fraud and
inducing, aiding and abetting these torts. SAC §267. The claim for a constructive trust arises out
of the tort of an alleged breach of fiduciary duty. SAC 1 270-272. The piercing the corporate veil
claim is based on the tort of fraud. SAC 300. This court determines that these claims (Sixth,
Seventh and Eleventh Counts) are governed by Section 52-577. Thus, based on the foregoing
discussion, this court finds that all of the first fifteen counts in the SAC - the tort claims, the
declaratory judgment and equitable claims, the CUTPA claim and the antitrust claim - are governed
by statutes of limitation which expired before suit was filed unless they were tolled or subject to a
continuing course of conduct claim.

A much more formidable contention is WWE’s assertion that the applicable statutes of
limitations have been tolled by operation of General Statutes § 52-595 which reads:

“If any person, liable to an action by another, fraudulently conceals

from him the existence of the cause of such action, such cause of

action shall be deemed to accrue against such person so liable

therefor at the time when the person entitled to sue thereon first

discovers its existence.”
The parties agree that the elements necessary for a plaintiff to succeed on a fraudulent concealment
theory have been set out by the Connecticut Supreme Court in Bartone v. Robert L. Day Co., 232
Conn. 527 (1995). They are: (1) a defendant’s actual awareness, rather than imputed knowledge,
of the facts necessary to establish the plaintiff’s cause of action, (2) the defendant’s intentional

concealment of such facts from the plaintiff, and (3) the concealment of the facts was for the

purpose of obtaining delay on the plaintiff’s part in filing a complaint. Id., 533. These elements
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must be proven by clear, precise and unequivocal evidence. Id. Evidence of misrepresentation is
not enough per se. The defendant’s actions must be directed to the very point of obtaining the delay
which afterwards is taken advantage of by pleading the statute of limitations. Id., 534 n.5 [citing

Lippitt v. Ashley, 89 Conn. 450, 480 (1915) and Connell v. Colwell, 214 Conn. 242, 251 (1990)].

The facts underlying WWE’s fraudulent concealment claim were alleged in the amended
complaint in the federal action at Paragraphs 186-241 which allegations were repeated in the SAC
at Paragraphs 187-242, and in an afﬁdavif of Linda McMahon, CEO of WWE, dated April 17,2008.
According to WWE the SAC contains at least 55 paragraphs describing specific instances of
fraudulent concealment. These include allegations of (1) concealing payments by Jakks to Shenker
or SSAI, (2) that Shenker and Bell failed to provide WWE senior management with video game
offers from Jakks and THQ competitors, and (3) concealing that Shenker was working on behalf
of Jakks while putatively an agent of WWE. SAC 1Y 85-88,95-100, 112-113, 168-169; McMahon
Aff., 1 18-19; various depositions. These events occurred in the period 1996-1998. In addition,
WWE points out that Ms. McMahon stated in her affidavit that (1) WWE was unaware of any
improprieties in the behavior of Bell, Shenker or SSAI with respect to their work for WWE, (2)
WWE relied on Bell’s advice in entering info the video game license, (3) Bell concealed
information about another license proposal from Activision and interest from THQ, and (4) once
WWE knew the video game license with the defendants was “tainted” by bribery and fraud, WWE
investigated and prosecuted such conduct.

Essentially, the defendants make two arguments that the fraudulent concealment tolling
statute, Section 52-595, does not save WWE’s causes of action. The first argument is that many

of the allegations relied on by WWE are not allegations of fraudulent concealment but are
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allegations of actions that made up the initial allegedly frandulent procurement of the licenses and
do not meet the required element established by the Connecticut Supreme Court that the
concealment must be “for the purpose of obtaining delay on the plaintiff’s part in filing a

complaint.” Bartone, supra, 232 Conn. 533. The defendants argue that the first allegation of

fraudulent concealment made by WWE in the SAC or the McMahon affidavit not part of the alleged
underlying fraud, is that Jakks “concealed and did not produce” certain documents and information
pursuant to a subpoena dated June I, 2002. SAC 91 198-199. The defendants contend that this
alleged act of fraudulent concealment occurred almost four years after the alleged injury to WWE
occurred, and therefore, the three year limitations periods of Sections 52-577 and 42-110g(f) had
expired.

The court agrees with the defendants. The allegations in the SAC and the McMahon
affidavit concerning purported concealment activities either related to the initial obtaining of the
WWE licences by fraud or specifically refer to dates four years or more after June 1998. The
activities related to the initial fraud were not “directed to the very point of obtaining the delay” in

filing a complaint. Bartone, supra, 232 Conn. 534 n.5. Rather, the actions were for the purpose of

furthering the initial underlying alleged fraud. In a well considered and through decision, the late
and esteemed Judge William Lewis rejected the argument that the very acts of fraud which he found
proven “themselves constitute[d] the affirmative acts of concealment” needed to bring Section 52-

595 into play. Johnson v. Wadia, Superior Court, judicial district of Stamford-Norwalk at Stamford,

CV 85 0075560 (March 28, 1991, Lewis, J.) (quoting 54 C.J.S., Limitations on Actions, § 84
“fraudulent concealment which will toll the running of the statute of limitations does not depend

upon the underlying cause of action being inherently fraudulent, but requires independent acts of
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fraudulent concealment . . .””). Ifthe initial fraudulent acts were sufficient to activate Section 52-
595, all fraud cases would fall outside the purview of Section 52-577, a situation which is not the
law in Connecticut.

Certain allegations in the SAC refer to specific dates in late 2002 and 2003, e.g. SAC {200
et seq. Other allegations also concern the underlying alleged fraud or refer to actions which do not
constitute concealment such as the termination of the relationships between WWE and Bell and
Shenker, and the commencement of a lawsuit. SAC q{ 187-191. Other allegations concern only
Bell and Shenker or one of them. SAC 4§ 193-195. The bare handful of allegations that arguably
might show some level of concealment are notably conclusory and bereft of any dates at all, let
alone dates within three years of June 1998, an omission especially remarkable in a pleading so
filled with very specific allegations and a myriad 6f dates. These fall woefully short of clear and
convincing evidence of concealment within the applicable limitations period.

The second argument made by the defendants in opposition to WWE’s argument that
Section 52-595 has tolled the applicable statute of limitations is premised on the contention that
Section 52-595 requires a plaintiff to exercise due diligence to discover the facts about a potential
claim when presented with enough facts to put a person of ordinary prudence on inquiry. This is
atwo-pronged argument, relying not only on Connecticut substantive law, but also on the specific
holding in the federal action that WWE was on inquiry notice of the RICO claims by 1998.

In Connell v. Colwell, 214 Conn. 242 (1990) the Connecticut Supreme Court declined to

decide whether a plaintiff had a duty to exercise due diligence in order to avail himself of the

benefits of Section 52-595. Subsequently, in Mountaindale Condominium Association v. Zappone,

59 Conn. App. 311, cert denied, 254 Conn. 947 (2000) the Appellate Court upheld a Superior Court
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decision that fraudulent concealment did not toll the statute of limitations when “the means of
knowledge existed and the circumstances were such as to put a plaintiff of ordinary prudence on
inquiry . . . and the plaintiff learned of information that would lead to the discovery of a cause of
action through due diligence.” Id., 322.

Prior to Mountaindale Judge Lewis required a plaintiff on inquiry notice to exercise due

diligence in order to be eligible for the tolling benefits of Section 52-595. Johnson v. Wadia, supra.

More recently, other courts have imposed the same requirement. Weiner v. Clinton, Superior Court,

judicial district of Hartford CV 04 4006045 (October 19, 2006, Keller, J.) (“tolling only permits a
plaintiff to avoid the bar of the statute of limitations if despite all due diligence, he is unable to
obtain vital information bearing on the existence ofhis claim”.}; Zanker Group LLC v. Summerville
at Litchfield Hills LEC, Superior Court, judicial district of Wate_rbury, X10 CV 04 4010223,
{March 10, 2007, Munro, J.) (when a plaintiff learns of information that would lead to discovery
of a cause of action through due diligence, the statute of limitations runs even if there has been

fraudulent concealment). Cambell v. Town of Plymouth, Superior Court, judicial district of New

Britain, CV 00 501061 (sic) (June 6, 2001, Shortall, J.) (citing Mountaindale) aff’d 74 Conn. App.

67 (2002); Hoskins v. Titan Value Equities Group. Inc, Superior Court, judicial district of New
Haven, CV 95 0373071 (April 8, 1999) aff’d on different grounds 252 Conn. 789 (2000).

Therefore, there is appellate authority and persuasive trial court support for the proposition that the
tolling benefits of Section 52-595 may only be utilized if a plaintiffhas exercised due diligence after
being placed on inquiry notice of the existence of a cause of action. This court finds, based on the
allegations in the SAC and the McMahon affidavit, that there was sufficient information available

to WWE to put it on its guard about the terms and length of the licenses and the purported lack of
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other bids, and that WWE failed to exercise due diligence.

In the federal action the District Court fully considered the detailed facts alleged by WWE
and specifically held that it had “little difficulty in finding that a reasonable person would have been
on inquiry notice of the injury [WWE] is alleged to have suffered by no later than June 1998.”
WWE 11, 68; see discussion at Id., 65-74. Additionally, the District Court specifically found that
WWE “failed to cite anything in its lengthy Amended Complaint that remotely demonstrate
demonstrates due diligence at any point during the granting of the licenses, let alone that it
exercised due diligence through the period to be tolled.” Id., 73.

Therefore, in addition to holding that WWE’s fraudulent concealment arguments failed for
several reasons under Connecticut law, this court also determines that WWE is collaterally estopped
from relitigating the issue of whether it was on inquiry notice of its claims. For all of these reasons,
this court holds that the statutes of limitations governing WWE’s claims are not tolled by virtue of
Section 52-595.

WWE also argues that its claims are t.imely by virtue of the “continuing course of conduct”

doctrine. Under this doctrine, according to WWE, citing Bellemare v. Wachovia Mortgage Corp.,

94 Conn. App. 593 (2006) where a defendant engages in a continuing course of conduct the statute
of limitations does not begin to run until the course of conduct is completed. To establish a
. continuing course of conduct, the defendant must have (1) committed an initial wrong, (2) owed
a continuing duty to the plaintiff that was related to the original wrong, and (3) continually breached

that duty. Bednarz v. Eve Physicians of Central Connecticut, P.C., 287 Conn. 158, 170 n. 10

(2008). The doctrine, however, may not be invoked on the basis of the defendants’ “failure . . . to

notify the plaintiff of his wrongdoing.” Connell v. Colwell, supra, 214 Conn. 255. In this case the
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plaintiff alleges that the defendants’ continuous course of conduct consists of the very acts which
made up, or initially hid, the original alleged wrongdoing and the “continuous concealment, perjury
and obstruction of justice by the Defendants, Shenker and Bell.” WWE Memorandum, 56. But
WWE points to no acts or omission by any of the moving defendants which 60nstituted perjury or
obstruction of justice prior to June 2001. Therefore, the continuing course of conduct alleged either
consisted of the original alleged wrongdoing, or conduct that occurred after the limitations period
had run. These allegations do not support a continuous course of conduct claim.

Furthermore, WWE neither alleges nor argues that there was any continuing duty owed by

the defendants to it. In Bednarz the Connecticut Supreme Court restated the proposition that where

it had found a duty continued to exist there was evidence of a special relationship between the
parties giving rise to such a duty or some later wrongful conduct by the defendant related to the
prior wrongful act. Bednarz, supra, 287 Conn. 170. WWE incorrectly cites Izzarelli v. R.J.
Reynolds Tobacco Co., 117 F. Supp. 2d 167 (D. Conn. 2000) for proposition that acts designed to

conceal wrongdoing are part of a continuing course of conduct. - Izzarelli simply said when the

original wrong was concealment, further concealment is related conduct and therefore a continuing

course of conduct. Id., 177. WWE relies on cases where such a contimiing duty clearly cxisted.

¢.g. Giulietti v. Giulietti, 65 Conn. App. 813 (2001) (attorney-client relationship.) Here WWE does
not allege, and the court does not find there was a continuing special relationship giving rise to a
duty which is a prerequisite for a continuing course of conduct claim.
VIL Antitrust Clzaim
In the federal action WWE alleged that all the defendants in this case violated Section 1 of

the Sherman Antitrust Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1. WWE alleged that the defendants “agreed and conspired
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to unreasonably restrain trade, in a per se violation of Séction 1 of the Sherman Act.. . by...
agreeing and conspiring to rig the terms of the bid . . . to WWE for the video game license . . .
conspiring to prevent THQ from submitting to WWE an independent bid . . . [which] caus[ed] the
licensing terms offered to WWE to be iess favorable . . . than the terms that competitive bid would
have been.” Amended Complaint, Federal Action § 267.

The District Court dismissed the Sherman Antitrust Act claim holding that the allegations
of WWE’s Amended Complaint, while describing “an extensive and, if true, astounding commercial
bribery scheme,” failed to allege an antitrust injury and failed to allege that but for the anti-
competitive conduct (the joint bid) WWE would not have suffered antitrust injury. 425 F. Supp.
2d 520, WWE, 520. In this case, the defendants contend that the above holding collaterally estops
WWE from re-litigating these issues and therefore, WWE’s claim must fail.?

In reaching the decision that WWE suffered no antitrust injury, the federal court assumed
that WWE had pleaded a per se violation of 15 U.S.C. § 1. Id.,, 519. The holding that antitrust
injury was required in a private antitrust action was primarily based on Daniel v. American Board
of Emergency Medicine, 428 F.3d 408 (2d Cir. 2005) which itself drew on “several” decisions of
the United States Supreme Court. Id., 518.

Count Ten of the SAC alleges a violation of the Connecticut Antitrust Act, General Statutes
§ 35-24 et. seq. Thatlaw incorporates, in modified form and with some notable exceptions, various
provisions of federal antitrust laws such as the Sherman and Clayton Acts. Mazzola v. Southern

New England Telephone Co., 169 Conn. 344, 347-348 (1975). General Statutes § 35-26 reads

5

On December 21, 2007 Judge Karas denied WWE’s motion for Reargument of the dismissal of
the Sherman Act claim emphasizing that WWE’s claimed injury arose from the alleged bribery
scheme not the joint THQ/Jakks bid. Silvestri Affidavit, Exhibit K
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“Every contract, combination or conspiracy in restraint of any part of trade or commerce is
unlawful” and in essence restates the prohibition of the first sentence of the Sherman Act on
interstate commerce. The Connecticut Act also states it is the intention of the General Assembly
that, in construing Sections 35-24 through 35-46, the courts of Connecticut “shall be guided by
interpretations by the federal courts to federal antitrust statutes.” General Statutes § 35-44b. The
Connecticut Supreme Court has stated, “[a]ccordingly we follow federal precedent when we
interpret the act unless the text of our antitrust statutes or other pertinent state law requires us to
interpret it differently.” Westport Taxi Service, Inc. v. Westport Transit District, 235 Conn, 1, 15-
16 (1995).

As the defendants have pointed out Connecticut trial courts have recognized and adbered

to the requirement that in order to obtain damages for even a per se violation of the Connecticut

Antitrust Act an “antitrust injury” must be shown. D’ Agostino v. Broccoli, Superior Court, judicial

district of Hartford, CV 05 5001595 (January 12, 2007, Scholl, J.); Bridgeport Harbor Place L.I.C

v. Ganim, Superior Court, judicial district of Waterbury, Complex Litigation Docket, X06 CV 04

4008409 (August 23, 2006, Alander, J.); Wyatt Energy Inc. v. Motiva Enterprises. LLC, Superior

Court, judicial district of Waterbury, Complex Litigation Docket, X0 CV 02 01740905 (Hodgson,
J. December 12, 2002, amended January 15, 2003).

In this case the allegations of the Tenth Count of the SAC specifically referencing the
Connecticut Antitrust Act claim are virtually identical to those made in Count III of the Amended
Complaint in the federal action which act set forth the federal antitrust claim. The only differences
are the references to the Connecticut statute and to trade, and commerce in Connecticut rather than

interstate commerce. Therefore, the very facts which WWE pleaded with such specificity in the

25




federal action, and which the federal court found insufficient to establish “antitrust” injury under
federal law, are now before this court which is mandated by statute and precedent to apply the same
legal principles. In opposition, WWE does not contend that the Connecticut law should be
interpreted differently than the Sherman Act, but argues that the dismissal of the Sherman Act count
in the federal action was based on impermissible fact finding by the federal court which “rejected
WWE’s numerous allegations that it was injured.” WWE Memo, April 21, 2008, 43. This
argument is nothing more than stating that the federal court’s decision was wrong.

This court concludes that summary judgment should be granted dismissing the claim under
the Connecticut Antitrust Act on several grounds. First Connecticut law requires the same type of
antitrust injury as required under federal law, and based on the facts alleged by WWE this court
concludes, as did Judge Karas, that WWE suffered no antitrust injury. Second, for the reasons set
forth in Section V of this memorandum, WWE is collaterally estobped from relitigating the issue
of antitrust injury and the issue of when the injury occurred for statute of limitations purpose, both
issues which were decided adversely to it. Third, for the reasons set forth in Section VI of the
memorandum, this court finds that the four year statute of limitations period expired before the
antitrust claim was brought.

VIIL Conclusion

For the reasons stated above, the pending summary judgment motions of THQ, Inc.,
THQ/Jakks Pacific LL.C, Jakks Pacific Inc., and Messrs. Friedman, Berman, Benneit and Farrell
to dismiss the First through Fifteenth Counts of the plaintiff’s SAC as against them are granted.
Those counts are dismissed on the grounds that (1) the doctrine of collateral estoppel precludes

relitigation of the issue that the plaintiff’s alleged injuries occurred no later than June 1998, and
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therefore, the applicable Connecticut Statutes of limitation bar the claims, (2) based on the
plaintiff’s very specific pleadings, which are judicial admissions,. the applicable Connecticut
Statutes of limitations bar the claims. In addition, the Connecticut Antitrust Act claim (Tenth
Count) is dismissed for lack of antitrust injury based on an analysis of the pleadings and on the

principles of collateral estoppel.

SUPERIOR COURT JUDGE
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